FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 9/7/2021 4:18 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/8/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>100</u>186-0 (COA No. 50400-6-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

FORREST AMOS,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR LEWIS COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

B. **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. This Court previously granted Mr. Amos' petition for review and directed the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision in light of *Jackson*,¹ because the Court of Appeals applied the wrong test to determine whether Mr. Amos was entitled to relief after the trial court improperly required him to wear physical restraints during a jury trial where he represented himself.² On remand, the Court of Appeals adhered to the same faulty reasoning of its first decision, despite evidence showing

¹ State v. Jackson, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020).

² The original Court of Appeals decision is attached as Appendix C.

jurors would have noticed Mr. Amos' restraints and it would have impacted how they assessed his defense. Should this Court grant review where the Court of Appeals misapplied the controlling decision in *Jackson* despite this Court's remand order and its opinion signals the court's disregard for the constitutional rule that shackling is presumptively prejudicial?

2. The court forced Mr. Amos to wear physical restraints while representing himself based solely on a general jail policy. A court may not impair an accused person's right to selfrepresentation by interfering with the accused's ability to fairly present the case to the jury. Does shackling a *pro se* defendant without cause undermine the constitutional right to selfrepresentation, trigger an even stronger presumption of prejudice than used for person who is represented by counsel, and merit review where this Court's precedent does not address the right to relief for a *pro se* defendant who is unconstitutionally restrained throughout trial?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Days before Mr. Amos' trial started, he asked to represent himself after expressing frustration with his attorney's failure to communicate with him. 6/1/17RP 40, 43. The court accepted his waiver of counsel without telling Mr. Amos that jail policy would require him to be shackled at trial. *Id.* at 40-46. The court told Mr. Amos he would be treated like any attorney. *Id.* at 45.

During motions in limine at the start of trial, Mr. Amos asked the judge to remove the leg brace he was forced to wear. 6/7/17Supp.RP 51. Mr. Amos explained the brace was "awkward" and he would have to "get up and like talk to a jury and stuff" during trial. 6/7/17Supp.RP 51.

The court said, "No. That's got to stay on. That's jail policy" and told him, "you've got to work with it." *Id*.

Mr. Amos said the jury box was "[r]ight here" and "looking directly at this side of me. I understand I've got to work with it but I still think it's prejudicial." *Id*. He explained he had no history of trying to run away and was "concerned about the prejudicial effect of this." *Id*.

The judge said he had not noticed the restraint until Mr. Amos mentioned it and described it as "minimally intrusive." *Id.* The judge told Mr. Amos that during the trial, the only noticeable thing would be that "you are going to reach down and hit the release [button] when you sit down." *Id.*

The court ruled, "that has to stay on" despite agreeing there was no reason to think Mr. Amos was would trying "to bolt," and said, "it's a security -- it's a safety thing, and it's just something we need to deal with it." *Id*. at 52.

The prosecutor said did not offer any reason to shackle Mr. Amos but said he did not see any "discernible protruding item" through Mr. Amos' clothes "at least not from this view." *Id.* at 52. Mr. Amos said the prosecutor was "looking at the wrong leg." *Id*.

When cross-examining multiple witnesses at trial, Mr. Amos approached them to show them exhibits to review. RP 152, 161, 172, 193, 201, 227, 273.³ He got documents from his table that he handed to witnesses. RP 193, 221, 273-74.

Mr. Amos also testified. In front of the jury, the court told him to "Come on up" to the witness stand, then to "Go ahead and have a seat." RP 296. Mr. Amos asked to "possibly stand up at all" while reciting his testimony, which the court allowed him to do. RP 296. Once Mr. Amos ended his direct examination, the court said to him, "All right. Have a seat," and told the prosecutor to cross-examine him. RP 307.

After Mr. Amos finished testifying, the court told him to "step down" from the witness stand. RP 321. With the jury in the courtroom, the court told everyone to "Go ahead and be seated," showing Mr. Amos again standing and sitting in front of the jury. RP 333.

In its first decision in 2020, the Court of Appeals ruled, and the State conceded, the trial court improperly ordered Mr.

³ The trial transcripts are contained in consecutively paginated volumes. Other transcripts are referred to by date.

Amos to wear restraints when it had no reason other than a generic jail policy. App. C, Slip op. at 17. But it refused to grant relief, finding Mr. Amos did not prove "the restraints had a substantial or injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 888, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998)). It noted Mr. Amos' movements "were possibly irregular because of the leg restraint" but because the record did not show "the jury noticed Amos's leg restraint," it was harmless error. *Id.* at 18.

Mr. Amos filed a *pro se* petition for review and asked for counsel, because his original appointed attorney told him he no longer represented him. S. Ct. No. 98763-7 (motion for appointment of counsel). This Court granted the petition, directed the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision in light of *Jackson*, and also appointed new counsel. *State v. Amos*, 197 Wn.2d 1007, 484 P.3d 1262 (2021).

Without asking for any supplemental briefing, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion finding no prejudicial error. App.

A, Slip. Op. at 6. It noted the judge and prosecutor said they could not see the brace under Mr. Amos' leg, without mentioning they had different vantage points than the jurors. *Id.*; *see* 6/7/17Supp.RP 51. It noted Mr. Amos moved around the courtroom frequently, as well as standing and sitting in front of the jury, without addressing the likelihood the jury noticed Mr. Amos was restrained when he moved. *Id.* It concluded, "[n]othing in the record on appeal shows that the jury noticed Amos's leg restraint," so the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

Mr. Amos filed a motion for reconsideration, detailing *Jackson*'s application to his case. The Court of Appeals denied the motion without asking the prosecution to respond. App. B.

D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

- 1. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Jackson and demonstrates its continued misunderstanding of how to enforce the State's burden to prove the improper shackling of a pro se defendant is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.
 - a. It is presumptively prejudicial constitutional error for a court to require an accused person to wear physical restraints without just cause.

In *Jackson*, this Court held that when a trial court orders an accused person to wear physical restraints when appearing in court without an individual justification meriting these shackles, it engages in a constitutional error that is presumptively prejudicial. 195 Wn.2d at 854. On appeal, the prosecution bears the burden of proving this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id*.

Jackson "disavow[ed]" prior decisions that required the defendant to "show the shackling had a substantial or injurious effect or influence on the jury's verdict." *Id.* at 855-56. It noted the Court of Appeals was been using this incorrect standard to

treat shackling errors as harmless in numerous recent cases, creating "a culture in which incarcerated defendants are virtually guaranteed to have constitutional rights violated" with no remedy. *Id.* at 856-57. The Court of Appeals committed this same error in its original decision, which the prosecution conceded in its answer to Mr. Amos' petition for review. As a result, this Court granted review and remanded for reconsideration based on *Jackson*. 197 Wn.2d at 1007.

A person accused of a crime is entitled to appear in all court proceedings, including trial, free from restraints except in extraordinary circumstances. *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d at 852. Restraints are inherently prejudicial, they detract from the presumption of innocence, and they undermine the dignity of judicial proceedings. *Id*.

The fact that an accused person is forced to wear a physical restraint "almost inevitably affects adversely the jury's perception of the character of the defendant." *Deck v. Missouri*, 544 U.S. 622, 633, 125 S. Ct. 2007, 161 L. Ed. 2d 953 (2007);

U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. It inevitably creates an adverse perception about the accused person's dangerousness as well as his character. *Id.* It erodes the dignity and decorum of the criminal proceedings. *Id.* It impairs the defendant's psychological state, stilts his movements, and affects the ability to freely communicate with counsel or testify in court. *State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 844, 863-644, 975 P.2d 967 (1999). A person accused of a crime is entitled to "the physical indicia of innocence" and to appear in court with the "dignity and self-respect of a free and innocent man." *Id.* at 844.

b. <u>Jackson</u> holds a court must credit available inferences that the jury was affected by seeing a testifying defendant shackled at trial.

As *Jackson* explains, the correct harmless error test following an erroneous shackling order places a heavy burden on the State to prove the constitutional violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. 195 Wn.2d at 856. When there is conflicting evidence about the jurors' ability to notice the physical restraints, this conflict is resolved in favor of the defendant, not the prosecution. *Id.* at 858.

In *Jackson*, the prosecution claimed there was no affirmative evidence the jurors saw the leg brace Mr. Jackson wore under his clothes. *Id.* at 857. But this Court explained it must also credit Mr. Jackson's statements. *Id.* Mr. Jackson told the court he believed the jury could see the restraints when he was seated in the jury box during his testimony. *Id.* He also had trouble moving from a seated to standing position due to the leg restraint and he did not stand to take his oath before testifying because of it, giving jurors further opportunity to notice he wore a physical device impairing his movements. *Id.* at 857-58.

Based on this information, this Court ruled there were "obvious limitations placed on his movement" and the jury would draw negative inferences from those limitations, such as thinking Mr. Jackson was not showing respect when he did not stand before the jury to take his oath. *Id.* at 858. His credibility was central to his defense and these restraints could undercut his credibility and make him appear to be the type of person who would commit the charged crime. *Id*.

This Court explained that where there is "conflicting speculation and conflicting evidence" about the extent to which the jury saw and drew negative inferences from the shackles, the prosecution has not proven beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper shackling was harmless. *Id*.

> c. It is far more likely the jury drew negative inferences from Mr. Amos' shackling than in <u>Jackson</u>, yet the Court of Appeals issued a decision that conflicts with <u>Jackson</u>.

Rejecting, or misunderstanding, the analysis mandated by *Jackson*, the Court of Appeals ruled there was no evidence the jury noticed Mr. Amos's leg brace. App. A, Slip op. at 6. Yet the record provides ample evidence the jury would have noticed, even more than in *Jackson*.

Similarly to *Jackson*, Mr. Amos told the court jurors would see the restraint from the jury box. 6/1/17SuppRP 51.

His statement supplies affirmative evidence that jurors saw he was being physically restrained. *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d at 857.

Although the prosecutor initially claimed he could not see the brace from where he was standing, Mr. Amos undercut this claim by telling the prosecutor he was looking at the wrong leg. 6/7/17SuppRP 51. In addition, the prosecutor's viewpoint has no bearing on what jurors saw. As Mr. Amos explained, the jury box was "right here" and "looking directly" at the side of him that was restrained. 6/7/17SuppRP 51.

The court acknowledged the brace would be noticeable each time Mr. Amos sat down, because he would need to push a button on the brace that allowed him to bend his knee. 6/7/17SuppRP 51-52. Mr. Amos stood, sat, and moved around the courtroom on numerous occasions, as the Court of Appeals recognized. App. A, Slip op. at 6.

While the judge said he did not notice the brace until Mr. Amos pointed it out, the judge was not sitting in the jury box. Mr. Amos told the judge that the jurors were sitting "right here" and would look directly at the brace. 6/7/17Supp.RP 51. The Court of Appeals refused to credit Mr. Amos' expressed concern about its visibility to the jury, even though *Jackson* requires the court to credit Mr. Amos' statements about the restraint's visibility. 195 Wn.2d at 857.

The Court of Appeals claimed Mr. Amos was able to "freely move" about the courtroom because he walked to the witness stand and handed documents to witnesses. App. A, Slip op. at 6. Yet this shows the Court of Appeals misunderstands the nature of the leg restraint Mr. Amos wore -- it did not prevent him from moving at all, but would hobble his leg so he could not move around the courtroom without the brace being noticed. See Jackson, 195 Wn.2d at 847, 848 n.2 (explaining similar restraint made walking or standing difficult). Just like in *Jackson*, the jury would notice it as he stood and sat. *Id.* at 848 n.2. The trial court told him he would have to hit a release button each time he sat down. 6/7/17Supp.RP 51. And unlike Jackson, Mr. Amos was required to move around the

courtroom frequently, giving the jury many opportunities to notice his leg restraint.

Further, the Court of Appeals completely ignored the mental effect of forcing Mr. Amos to wear a leg brace at a trial where he not only testified but he represented himself. The case required the jury to assess Mr. Amos' credibility based on his testimony contesting the charges. App. C, Slip op. at 12 (noting Mr. Amos testified his conduct was innocent). And it was even more important that Mr. Amos appear with his mental faculties unfettered, because he was also arguing to the jury as his own lawyer about why the prosecution had not proved its case.

Under *Jackson*, the prosecution cannot prove the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The Court of Appeals did not apply the presumption of prejudice. It did not credit Mr. Amos' explanation that the jurors could see the leg brace from the jury box and it prejudiced him, and disregarded the judge's acknowledgement that Mr. Amos would have to adjust the leg brace each time he sat down. It ignored the importance of Mr. Amos' ability to control his defense and be perceived as a capable attorney, which the leg restraints undermined.

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals issued a decision that conflicts with *Jackson*. The Court of Appeals decision also shows the risk that appellate courts will revert to its prior approach of refusing to remedy routine trial court orders shackling a criminal defendant that this Court disavowed in *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d at 855-56.

- 2. Unjustified shackling of a person who is acting as his own lawyer causes more constitutional harm and inherent prejudice and cannot be dismissed as harmless.
 - a. Forcing a pro se defendant to wear shackles without cause undermines the right to selfrepresentation.

The state and federal constitutions guarantee the right to self-representation. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975); *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503, 229 P.3d 714 (2010); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. When a person waives counsel, the trial court must ensure the jury believes the *pro se* defendant is conducting his own defense in a manner that "affirm[s] the accused's individual dignity and autonomy." *McKaskle v Wiggins*, 465 U.S. 168, 178, 104 S. Ct. 944, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122 (1984). While the "core" of the right to self-representation is control over one's defense, it is equally important that the jury perceives the accused as having control over the case. *Id.* at 178-79. The court may not "erode the dignitary values that the right to selfrepresentation is intended to promote" or "undercut the defendant's presentation to the jury of his own most effective defense." *Id.* at 181-82.

Article I, section 22 is more protective of the right to self-representation than the Sixth Amendment. *State v. Silva*, 107 Wn. App. 605, 622, 27 P.3d 663 (2001). It guarantees the right to meaningfully present a defense with the tools necessary to properly present the case to the jury. *Id*. It is inconceivable that shackling a *pro se* defendant, without cause, does not impact the accused person's ability to represent himself. The right to self-representation is rooted in individual "dignity and autonomy." *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 660, 260 P.3d 874 (2011). But physical restraints necessarily detract from the accused person's dignity and autonomy, as well as the dignity of the judicial proceedings. *Deck*, 544 U.S. at 631.

For practical purposes, wearing restraints impedes the physical actions required when presenting a case, such as handing documents to people on the witness stand or moving in the courtroom while presenting argument. Because it impairs a person's ability to move, it affects body language. Jurors generally pay attention to body language and other physical cues, from a lawyer or defendant, which is why visible restraints are presumptively prejudicial.

Physical restraints affect the defendant's actual control over his movements and the appearance of control. Restraints

"almost inevitably affects adversely the jury's perception of the character of the defendant." *Deck*, 544 U.S. at 633

Restraints also affect a person's mental faculties and may cause pain. Spain v. Rushen, 883 F.2d 712, 721 (9th Cir. 1989). They "ten[d] to confuse and embarrass defendants' mental faculties" which "prejudicially affect[s] his constitutional rights." Deck, 544 U.S. at 631 (citing with approval People v. Harrington, 42 Cal. 165, 168 (1871)); see State v. Damon, 144 Wash.2d 686, 691, 25 P.3d 418 (2001) ("keeping the defendant in restraints during trial may deprive him of the full use of all his faculties"). The Ninth Circuit recently recognized the prejudicial effect shackling has on inmates proceeding pro se in civil cases and imposed the obligation to make an individualized determination there as well. Claiborne v. Blauser, 934 F.3d 885, 901 (9th Cir. 2019).

b. The unjustified use of physical restraints on a pro se defendant automatically prejudices the defendant.

The detrimental effects of unjustified restraints recognized in *Jackson* are compounded when the accused person has waived the right to counsel. When a court violates a person's right to self-representation, the error is structural and not subject to harmless error analysis. *McKaskle*, 465 U.S. at 177 n.8. Mr. Amos was not warned he would be physically restrained at trial at the time he waived his right to counsel and was instead told he would be treated like any lawyer. 6/1/17RP 45. Forcing Mr. Amos to represent himself while wearing restraints undermines the knowing, intelligent and voluntary nature of his waiver of counsel and fundamentally alters his ability to represent himself with dignity and autonomy.

When a court improperly requires a *pro se* defendant to be shackled at trial, the error should be treated as *per se* prejudicial because it vitiates the core of the right to selfrepresentation. *See United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 148, 126 S. Ct. 2557, 165 L. Ed. 2d 409 (2006) (holding violation of right to counsel of choice is structural error).

Alternatively, if the error is presumed prejudicial, the scale must tip even more favorably to the defendant and against the prosecution. While acting as his own lawyer, Mr. Amos was required to move around the courtroom, argue to the jury, and testify in his own defense wearing a device that impaired his ability to move. He knew the jury was likely to see the restraint and told the court it would prejudice his ability to represent himself. 6/7/17SuppRP 51. Having to wear restraints, without cause, while trying to persuade the jury he did not commit the offenses charged created an insurmountable obstacle that cannot be proven harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

This Court should grant review to ensure trial courts do not impose restraints on a person who is *pro se* without the mandatory individual justification for shackling a defendant and to explain the heightened presumption of prejudice, or *per*

se reversal, that will follow from an unjustified shackling order. Review of this constitutional issue is warranted as a matter of substantial public interest.

E. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Petitioner Forrest Amos respectfully requests that review be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

Counsel certifies this document contains 3566 words and complies with RAP 18.17(b).