FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/6/2021 3:49 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100186-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 50400-6-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

FORREST EUGENE AMOS,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 35564

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office Office ID 91182 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

- Did the Court of Appeals, on remand from this Court, apply the wrong legal standard to determine if the trial court's improper shackling was constitutionally harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 2. May Amos raise a new argument, not litigated at the Court of Appeals, in this petition for review to the Supreme Court?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Amos, believing he was wronged by Detective Adam Haggerty, Detective Chad Withrow, Deputy William Halstead, and Prosecuting Attorney Jonathan Meyer, filed

fraudulently made subrogation bonds in each victim's name in Lewis County Superior Court. RP 92-95, 140-42, 181-84, 189-92, 297-303; Ex. 2, 3, 4, 5. Amos was angry about a 2013 criminal case filed by the Lewis County Prosecutor's Office, wherein part of case a search warrant was executed on his jail cell by the detectives. State v. Amos (Amos I), No. 50400-6-II at 2-3, LEXIS 1240 (Wash. Crt. App. April 28, 2020)(unpublished). Amos asserted his civil rights were violated, leading him to have no choice but to plead guilty to numerous felonies (12) in a plea deal Amos reached with the State in the 2013 case. *Id.* at 3; RP 88-89. Amos was sentenced to 12 years in prison in that matter. RP 88-89.

Amos filed four documents titled, "Forced Commercial Contract." Ex. 2, 3, 4, 5. The documents also

¹ The State cites to the first unpublished Court of Appeals opinion for Amos' case for citation to the facts and for context as it pertains to this petition for review of the second Court of Appeals decision on Amos' case. GR 14.1.

state they are a notice of a subrogation bond and require Clerk's action. *Id.* The four documents are similar with minor changes for the victims. *Id.* The documents similarly stated (with the minor changes):

Jonathan Meyer, public servant, prosecuting attorney, law merchant do hereby enter myself security for costs in the cause and acknowledge myself bound to pay or cause to be paid all costs which may accure [sic] in this action, either to the opposite party, or to any of the officer of this court, pursuant to the laws of this state, and/or the District of Columbia, 28 USC Sex. 3002(15)(c). See State v. Sefrit, 82 Wash. 520, 144 P. 725 (1914), State v. Yelle. 4 Wn2d 324, 103 P.2d 372 (1940); Nelson v. Bortell, 4 Wn.2d 174, 103 P.2d 30 (1940). Dated this 11th day of March, 2016. Jonathan Meyer

Ex. 3, page 1 (under Mr. Meyer's name it states, "public servant, prosecuting attorney). The documents also contain language stating Amos is the surety on the bonds and place each in excess of one million dollars. Ex. 2, 3, 4, 5.

Amos was charged with four counts of forgery and four counts of criminal impersonation in the first degree. CP

1-5. Only the forgery counts have been at issue throughout the appeal. As his case was being litigated in the trial court, Amos began to have problems with his court appointed counsel, Don Blair. RP 13-18, 37-51; RP (11/29/16) 26-29; CP 14-15. The issues appeared to mainly revolve around Amos' desire for his counsel make certain arguments Mr. Blair believed he could not properly present. *Amos I*, at 6-7. Amos ultimately proceeded pro se. *Id.* at 7.

During the trial Amos wore a leg brace pursuant to jail policy. RP (6/7/17) 51-52. There was no individualized inquiry regarding the use of restraints. See RP (6/7/17). During preliminary matters, Amos brought up the issue regarding the leg restraint. *Id.* at 51-52. The trial court stated, "Well, I will tell you I didn't notice that you had anything on until you said that...You know, it's not something they can see." RP 51. Amos was convicted as charged and sentenced to an exceptional sentence. RP 375-76, 408-11.

Division Two affirmed Amos' conviction and sentence. *Amos I*, No. 50400-6-II (2020). After *Amos I* was decided, this Court decided State v. Jackson, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020). Amos filed a petition for review on select issues decided by the Court of Appeals (as there were five (5) issues raised by Amos' attorney and nine (9) issues raised by Amos in his statement of additional grounds (SAG) at the Court of Appeals). Appendix B. The State conceded the Court of Appeals used the incorrect standard when it determined Amos' restraint argument and requested this Court grant review solely on that matter, and remand the case to the Court of Appeals for the proper harmless error analysis to be conducted. Appendix C. This Court agreed with the State and granted review solely for the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision by applying the correct harmless error analysis, as set forth in *Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841. Appendix D.

The Court of Appeals, on remand reconsidered Amos' restraint. *Amos II*, Slip. Op. 50400-6-II. The Court of Appeals reviewed the relevant facts, applied the harmless beyond a reasonable doubt standard from *Jackson*, and determined Amos' physical restraint was harmless. *Id.* Amos has petitioned for review.

The State will supplement the facts in the argument section below.

D. <u>ARGUMENT.</u>

Amos asserts the Court of Appeals failed to apply the correct harmless error analysis adopted by this Court in *State v. Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841. Amos also, as he did in his previous petition for review, raises claims not argued below. The Court of Appeals properly reconsidered Amos' restraint issue pursuant to this Court's remand order, therefore, review is not warranted. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The remaining issue(s) raised by Amos in his petition do not warrant review by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b).

1. There Is No Conflict Between The Court Of Appeals Decisions And This Court's Decision in State v. Jackson.

Amos argues the Court of Appeals decision in regard to his improper shackling argument is in conflict with this Court's decision in *State v. Jackson*, 195 Wn.2d 841. Amos asserts the Court of Appeals failed to apply the correct harmless error standard. Petition at 10-16. Amos argues the Court of Appeals either misunderstood or rejected the analysis mandated by this Court in *Jackson*. Petition at 12. Finally, Amos asserts the record provided "ample evidence the jury would have noticed" his restraint, even more than the restraint in *Jackson*. *Id*. Amos' dissatisfaction with the Court of Appeals does not warrant review.

The Court of Appeals followed this Court's mandate, reconsidering its earlier opinion, applying the harmless error analysis set forth by this Court in *Jackson. Amos II; Amos I,* at 20-24; Appendix D. The only argument ever before the Court of Appeals in regard to Amos' shackling

was whether it was harmless error, as the State conceded from the start that Amos was improperly shackled. COA Brief of Respondent at 15-18. The Court of Appeals reviewed the facts, applied the correct standard, and found the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Amos II*.

Contrary to Amos' argument, there was never a statement by Amos that the brace was visible. See RP (6/7/17) 51-52. Amos discussed that it was awkward. *Id.* at 51. Amos stated the jurors would be looking at "this side of me." *Id.* There is nothing in the record that states the jurors could see brace. See RP generally. The evidence was that the brace was not visible, specifically noted by the prosecutor when Amos was standing, as the prosecutor could not tell the difference between Amos' two legs. RP (6/7/17) 52. Amos, by his request, stood while presenting his case to the jurors. RP 296. Amos' disagreement with the Court of Appeals application of the law, because it did not turn in his favor, does not warrant review by this Court.

This Court should deny Amos' request for review as it does not meet the standard pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. This Court Should Decline Amos' Invitation To Allow Him To Raise An Argument He Failed To Litigate In The Court Of Appeals.

Amos argues his unconstitutional shackling should be considered structural error due to it undermining his constitutional right to self-representation. Petition at 16-21. Alternatively, Amos argues due to his pro se statutes, and the effect of the wrongful shackling on his selfrepresentation, this Court should require the presumably prejudicial standard "to tip even more favorable to the defendant and against the prosecution." Petition at 21. The State is unsure what Amos is asserting is a more stringent test than constitutional harmless error and less than structural error, as he appears to simply state the error cannot be proven harmless and requires reversal, and that is structural error. Id.

Regardless, Amos made similar argument to this Court in his previous petition for review. Appendix B. Amos asserted the shackling should have been structural error due to it undermining his ability to make an informed decision whether to waive counsel and proceed pro se. Appendix C, 12-14. The State argued Amos did not raise a structural error argument regarding a conflict between his shackling and pro se representation at the Court of Appeals. Appendix C, 9-10; see also Amos I.

As noted in the State's response to the prior petition for review, in addition to appellate counsel's five (5) arguments, Amos argued nine (9) statements of additional grounds to the Court of Appeals. *Amos I* at 37-59. Amos had ample opportunity, and ability, to make any structural error or other argument in regards to his self-representation and shackling, but failed to do so.

It is the general rule that a party "may not raise a new issue for the first time in a petition for review." *Plein v.*

Lackey, 149 Wn.2d 214, 222, 67 P.3d 1061 (2003) (internal citation omitted). The Court should not accept review on Amos' structural error argument or his heightened presumed prejudiced for pro se litigants standard. This Court did not accept Amos' invitation previously when he requested this Court look at new issues upon review, and it should not do so now. Appendix B, C, D.

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review of Amos' petition. If this Court were to accept review on the other matters or request argument in this case, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.

This document contains 1,755 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the words count by RAP 18.17.